Report No 1:2001

Migration and work-related health in Europe

- A Literature Review

Dr Karen Wren Professor Paul Boyle University of St Andrews



School of Geography & Geosciences UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS



SALTSA – JOINT PROGRAMME FOR WORKING LIFE RESEARCH IN EUROPE The National Institute for Working Life and The Swedish Trade Unions in Co-operation SALTSA is a collaboration programme for occupational research in Europe. The National Institute for Working Life in Sweden and the regional trade union organisations SACO (the Swedish Confederation of Professional Associations), LO (the Swedish Trade Union Confederation) and TCO (the Swedish Confederation of Professional Employees) take part in the programme. Many problems and issues relating to working life are common to most European countries, and the purpose of the programme is to pave the way for joint research on these matters from a European perspective.

It is becoming increasingly obvious that long-term solutions must be based on experience in and research on matters relating to working life. SALTSA conducts problem-oriented research in the areas labour market, employment, organisation of work and working environment.

SALTSA collaborates with international research institutes and has close contacts with industry, institutions and organisations in Europe, thus linking its research to practical working conditions.

Contact SALTSA

Labour Market Programme Lars Magnusson, National Institute for Working Life, Tel: +46 8 619 67 18, e-mail: lars.magnusson@niwl.se Torbjörn Strandberg, LO, Tel: +46 8 796 25 63, e-mail: torbjorn.strandberg@lo.se

Work Organisation Programme

Peter Docherty, National Institute for Working Life, Tel: +46 8 730 96 03, e-mail: peter.docherty@niwl.se Mats Essemyr, TCO, Tel: +46 8 782 92 72, e-mail: mats.essemyr@tco.se

Programme for Work Environment and Health

Christer Hogstedt, National Institute for Working Life, Tel: +46 8 619 67 16, e-mail: christer.hogstedt@niwl.se Anders Schaerström, SACO, Tel: +46 8 613 48 74, e-mail: anders.schaerstrom@saco.se

© National Institute for Working Life and authors 2001 SE-112 79 Stockholm, Sweden Tel: (+46) 8-619 67 00, fax: (+46) 8-656 30 25 Web: www.niwl.se/saltsa Printed at Elanders Gotab ISSN: 1404-790X

Contents

Foreword	1
Introduction	3
Work-related health problems	4
Migration, citizenship and definitional issues	5
A European migration history	5
Post World war 2 labour migration	6
Family reunification	7
Post industrial migration	8
Very recent migration trends	11
European racisms	13
Britain	15
France	16
The Netherlands	16
Germany	17
Sweden and Denmark	18
Integration	19
Migration and employment	19
Ethnicity and health research	21
Socio-economic links to health	22
Migration and health	23
Migration and mental health	24
Refugees and health	27
Work-realted accidents	29
Access to health care	30
Residential concentration and health	30
Illness and culture	31
Cross cultural psychiatry	31
Methodological problems	34
Mobility	34
Diagnostic anomalies	34
Classification of disease	34
Culturally dependent views of illness	35
Conclusion	35
Bibliography	37

Foreword

Work-related health among migrants has been identified as an important research gap in Europe at a time which is witnessing a significant increase in mobility, involving both voluntary and forced migration. While the numbers of forced migrants seeking asylum in Western Europe have increased significantly since the mid 1980s, the EU is also becoming more integrated as a labour market, resulting in a more mobile work force. The coming decades are likely to see further increases in labour migration as demographic changes are predicted to contribute to pre-existing labour shortages in certain skilled sectors. This is likely to lead to further increases in intra-EU migration, as well as further migration from Eastern Europe and other continents. Therefore, studies of migration and working life have been prioritised in the SALTSA programme.

Despite these trends, very little is known about the work-related health implications for migrants and the related implications for European societies. Work-related health aspects include occupational accidents among ethnic minorities employed in dangerous occupations as well as work-related stress among skilled migrants in qualified positions. A potential health hazard is deskilling among skilled refugees. In all cases cultural components must be taken into account. To date, a major problem preventing research and more full awareness of these linkages is the difficulty of acquiring the relevant data, and in particular, data which is comparable internationally.

A pre-planning phase was carried out during 1998 and 1999. This process, for which Anders Schærström was responsible, comprised a search for references and contacts, as well as two workshops. The result of the study and one workshop have been documented in other SALTSA publications.

In order to prepare the ground for a major research effort, a planning phase has followed.

The objective of this phase was to assess the feasibility of meaningful comparative European research on the situation of different groups of migrants versus non-migrants in terms of work and health by searching for databases and other sources of information as well as academic competence and other contacts.

The feasibility study has been carried out on behalf of SALTSA by researchers at the School of Geography and Geosciences at the University of St Andrews, Scotland. This literature review, focussing the current migration situation in Europe, is one of its results. An overview of data availability and contacts in several countries has been published separately.

Christer Hogstedt

Professor, Chairman SALTSA Committee for Work Environment and Health

Anders Schærström

Fil dr, Secretary SALTSA Committee for Work Environment and Health

Introduction

While international migration has been a well-established phenomenon globally, the latter part of the twentieth century has witnessed a significant increase in mobility on a global scale, a factor associated with progressive globalization of labour markets. This has created a growing diversity of migrants now resident in Western Europe. European integration has also created a more internationally mobile workforce within the EU. These trends are likely to continue into the coming decades, particularly as demographic changes will compound the already present skills shortages in some key employment sectors. Europe's population is projected to shrink by 110-150 million over the next five decades (Preston, 1999) due to the combination of an ageing population and a declining birth rate, and long-term projections of population growth show that this will result in an active population too small to support welfare systems at their current levels (Salt et al., 1996). This, coupled with declining pay and working conditions in many public sector employment niches, is likely to lead to further skills shortages in coming decades. There has been considerable interest in using controlled immigration to ameliorate these problems, and as a result, migrant workers are likely to become viewed as a potential resource in the future, so it is therefore imperative that some profile of the work-related health status of Europe's migrant population is clarified. This is therefore an increasingly important research gap which will require attention from policy-makers across Europe. This review will attempt to draw together some of the themes and issues related to migrant health and employment which are currently in the literature, and will identify any potential research gaps.

The title carries an implicit assumption that migration necessarily causes work-related health problems. This is often the case, but not always. Sometimes, voluntary migration can bring career opportunities which enhance the general well-being of migrants, particularly the highly skilled. Conversely, involuntary or 'tied' migration can involve a degree of deskilling and downward social mobility, and can be associated with potential health problems, particularly where departure has involved trauma. Clearly, a wide range of people at varying skills levels come under the category of 'migrants', and this review will attempt to incorporate this diversity.

Work-related health problems

There is little literature which deals with the combination of migration and workrelated health problems, as most literature is either related to migrant health, or work-related health in general. However, Sweden has taken the lead in this field, as Statistics Sweden has conducted a 20 year survey, which showed that physically demanding, stressful and repetitive employment leads to most health problems among immigrant workers, with musculoskeletal disorders constituting the largest single illness category among those with an immigrant background (Statistics Sweden, 1997; Socialstyrelsen, 1998). In another recent Swedish study, 72% of immigrants reported physically demanding work, compared with 62% of Swedes, and 16% and 10% of immigrants and Swedes respectively reported stressful and repetitive work. As a result, immigrants had sick leave at a level 70% greater than Swedes, with large differences between different ethnic groups, levels being highest among Southern European women. Yugoslavs and Hungarians reported these problems twice as often as Swedes, and women more than men, particularly women from Iran, Chile and Turkey (Socialstryrelsen, 1998). However, a similar study in Norway showed no significant differences in the levels of musculoskeletal disorders between immigrants and Norwegians (Blom and Ramm, 1998).

In Europe, significantly more attention is paid to traditional areas of occupational health, such as technical safety and the effects of chemical, physical and biological hazards in the workplace than to psychosocial aspects of health. Work-related stress therefore has a low priority, and in some cases is regarded as an inherent weakness in the individual, despite emerging evidence that workrelated stress is affecting increasing numbers of people globally. In some countries, notably, Sweden, Finland and the Netherlands, psychosocial occupational hazards are acquiring more importance (Kompier and Cooper, 1999). However, cross-national European comparative studies of the quality of working environments have not been carried out to any great extent, with some notable exceptions, including work carried out by the European Foundation for The Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Paoli, 1997). The ILO also carried out a recent survey of stress in several European countries (Britain, Germany, Finland and Poland), and found that anxiety, burn-out and depression constitute a major health burden both financially and in terms of lost working hours (Osborn, 2000a). Stress is also thought to reduce immunity to other diseases (Ader et al. 1995), though the individual's response to stress, and social support will play an important role (Kiritz and Moos, 1974). Migrants are often at particular risk from stress-related work problems as they generally occupy lower status occupational niches and have the added burden of racism and discrimination to deal with.

Migration, citizenship and definitional issues

To undertake a Europe-wide research programme in the field of migration and employment-related health issues is an ambitious project, not least due to the complexity of definitional issues among EU member states. The EU was established during the post World War 2 period and has recently pursued a policy of economic integration and eased mobility of labour within its boundaries, but this has also been associated with the tightening of Europe's external boundaries to migrants and workers from outside the EU, particularly those from less developed countries. These trends towards economic integration have tended to obscure the complexities of the migration histories of the individual EU member states, and while both migration and economic restructuring have led to changes in the fabric of all Western European nations throughout the post-war period, there are marked differences both in the political measures implemented to control immigration and integrate migrant populations, and in the ways in which the majority populations have reacted to immigration. As a result, the politicisation of the migrant presence, and subsequent racist discourses, vary considerably from nation to nation, resulting in an array of definitional terms used to describe migrants and ethnic minorities. These processes have also created differing national research priorities, depending on which immigration issues have been problematised. This complexity creates problems for truly cross-national comparative research on health and migration, as it is not always possible to find comparable data sources in different countries.

A European migration history

Even the measurement of international migration has become fraught with problems due to its complexity. It has become increasingly difficult to distinguish short and long term migration, while push factors interact with other institutional factors, blurring the distinction between forced and voluntary migration. However, it is possible to determine some clear patterns within this complexity. This section will consider the migration patterns common to Western Europe, and will be used to establish a framework from which individual national case studies will be considered. A useful way of conceptualising the current complexity of migrant populations in Western Europe is demonstrated by White (1993), who has divided post-1950 international migration to Europe into three distinct waves: labour migration, family reunification and post-industrial migration. Although there is considerable overlap in timescale between these waves, and place-specific anomalies exist where different countries are being compared, they do correspond to a broad pattern, as this model could be applied to any Western European country. The three waves of migrants have experienced rather different social and economic conditions on arrival, and will be discussed in turn.

Post World War 2 Labour Migration

The 1950s and 1960s saw the agglomeration of capital in the core industrial areas of Western Europe, and as a result, this period was characterised by mass migrations of predominantly single males seeking unskilled employment. Castles and Cosack (1973) demonstrated that these migrants played a crucial role in the economic prosperity of the region, and describe labour migration as a structural necessity for the economies of receiving countries at that time. Migrant-receiving societies adopted different policies towards labour migrants, from permanent settlement in Sweden, the UK and the Netherlands, to an essentially exploitative and exclusionary system in West Germany, where the strategy of Konjunkturpuffer was explicitly designed to avoid permanent settlement of labour migrants. This rotational system allowed the German government the flexibility of matching immigration to cyclical fluctuations in labour demand, and workers could easily be repatriated during slump periods. The German approach to labour migration was encapsulated in the term Gastarbeiter (guest workers), which reflected the perceived impermanence of these migrants, supporting the continuing myth that Germany was not a country of immigration. The German guest worker system also involved careful health screening of potential migrants, a highly selective process to ensure that only the fittest and most able were recruited (Castles and Kosack, 1973). This policy has had long term repercussions for health outcomes among migrant groups in Germany, as demonstrated by continued lower mortality rates among Turkish residents in Germany (Razum et al., 1998).

Economic factors largely explain the occurrence and subsequent demise of mass migrations during this period, but they do not explain the spatial patterns of the flows. King (1995) identifies two major types of sender countries: firstly, former colonies and secondly, countries on Europe's southern and eastern peripheries. Britain actively sought labour migrants from its former colonies, particularly in the West Indies, and many migrants also arrived from India and Pakistan to settle permanently. France received many migrant workers from its former colonies in North Africa and also encouraged permanent settlement, while the Dutch encouraged permanent settlement by the Surinamese. Countries such as Sweden, Germany and Denmark, which had no significant colonial linkages engaged in labour recruitment schemes with countries on Europe's rural periphery, notably Spain, Italy, Greece, Yugoslavia and Finland. As some of these countries began to see improvements in their own economies, labour migration dried up and sources further afield were sought, such as Turkey, Morocco and Pakistan. Some of the Southern European countries evolved from being countries of substantial net emigration to countries of net immigration within a very short period, both as a result of transformation of their economies and a rapid fall in fertility (King and Rybaczuk, 1993). Italy subsequently filled its emerging labour shortages by tolerating, rather than actively recruiting, migrants from its own former colonies such as Somalia and from other sources such as Bangladesh.

This period was therefore marked by a growing spatial diversity of migrant origins, with particular countries setting up linkages from specific sender countries, thus establishing linkages which have subsequently led to chain migration, and the establishment of certain migrant communities in various countries. Although there are some migrant groups which have settled in a number of different countries, the varying institutional and policy-related factors have differentiated their experiences, and the fact that many of these communities have been established through chain migration gives them particular characteristics which cannot be replicated from place to place. This, in association with place-specific racialisations of minority populations, renders comparative research problematic.

Mass labour migration came to a halt during the early 1970s when a combination of factors rendered it untenable. The 1973 oil crisis precipitated economic recession and unemployment in core countries, rendering labour migrants surplus to requirement, but deeper structural changes were also acting on the economies of receiver countries, changes which were to end mass labour migration permanently. Global economic restructuring was creating a *new international division of labour*, leading to new patterns of international migration. The 1970s saw the emergence of the transnational firm as a unit of production, creating a new global, hierarchical and geographically separated division of labour (Sassen, 1991), which involved the relocation of much unskilled labour demand to new areas within the developing world, and the decline or disappearance of the sectors which had formerly employed labour migrants.

Family Reunification

By the early 1970s, most Western European countries had either implemented immigration controls or terminated labour migration permanently, and in the 'guest worker' countries, it was assumed that labour migrants would return home when they were no longer needed. The reality, however, was very different, and throughout the 1970s, substantial numbers of migrants continued to arrive from countries which had traditionally supplied labour migrants. During the latter part of the labour migration period, some of the host countries had created legal rights for migrant workers to reunify their families, and many had taken advantage of this. This second wave consisted mainly of family reunification, and was therefore characterised by an entirely different gender and age composition, being composed primarily of 'tied' migrants, the wives and children of former labour migrants. The impact of this chain migration on receiver societies was therefore very different. They formed visibly distinctive communities in most major European cities, congregating mainly in inner city slums and poorer housing areas. This was a result of the occupational ghettoization of the original labour migrants, whose residential locations had been determined largely by the situation of workers' hostels in the poorer areas of cities, or the availability of low cost housing in these same areas. The arrival of families incurred a degree of residential mobility, as better housing was required, but the original areas of settlement continued to be foci for ethnic minorities, attracting both concern and hostility from some of the receiving populations. This period also saw ethnic minorities firmly established on the bottom rung of the social hierarchy, a factor which was to have future implications for their health and well-being, and indeed, many epidemiological studies have failed to recognise the significance of this socio-economic component when using factors such as ethnicity as a variable. This wave made its presence felt in new ways, placing particular demands on public services like health care and education, and at a time of recession and unemployment, migrants were often scapegoated for these wider societal changes (Heisler and Layton Henry, 1993).

Although family reunification peaked during the late 1970s, it is still an ongoing process, as refugees are also entitled to bring in family members. In addition, within some migrant communities, strong ties have been maintained with sender countries and are reinforced through regular visits and marriages within particular social and ethnic networks. These influences are likely to decrease as second and third generation migrants become more westernised and assertive in the face of demands from their more traditional parents. Also, recent trends have been towards a tightening up of family reunification rules throughout Western Europe (Salt 1995), reducing the potential for this migration in the future.

Post industrial migration

By the 1980s, family reunification had been replaced by a third, and more diverse wave of international migrants, characterised by greater emphasis on push factors. This diversity reflects changing social, political and economic conditions globally. In particular, there is more polarisation between wealthy skilled, and poor dispossessed migrants, a factor which reflects deepening structural

economic inequalities at a global scale. There has also been a distinct feminisation of migration flows (King, 1995), which applies mainly to migrants at the lower end of the socio-economic spectrum. Nevertheless, there are still clear patterns related to political and cultural linkages, particularly to colonialism, with even refugee flows mirroring such connections (Lopes, 1991; Dansk Flygtninghjælp, 1997). White (1993) identifies three sub-groups within the post industrial wave: highly skilled workers and business managers migrating within the developed world; refugees and asylum seekers; and clandestine migrants. These sub-groups are diverse and will therefore be discussed individually.

Highly skilled migrants

Migration of highly skilled migrants between key global cities has been explained by Salt (1992) and Findlay et al. (1996) in the context of the *new international division of labour*, where managerial functions have become more centralised in major global cities. Findlay and Garrick (1990) have identified three major channels of skilled worker movement: the internal labour markets of multinational companies; contract work organised by companies to meet skills absent in developing countries; and employment organised by recruitment agencies. Most research has focused on upward mobility within the labour markets of transnational companies (Salt, 1988). These 'executive nomads', primarily from Japan, North America and Western Europe, are predominantly male, face few immigration restrictions, and do not create a visible presence in their host societies, despite the great economic significance of their presence. As such contracts tend to be temporary, migration is usually short-term and circular, and these migrants are rarely included in epidemiological studies.

Very recent trends have witnessed a significant increase in the numbers of highly skilled workers migrating to Western Europe, particularly, an increase in intra-EU migration. A recent survey of the practices of 270 organisations employing expatriates demonstrates that intra-EU migration is increasing in extent, with North American skilled migrants becoming numerically less significant. This growth in expatriate assignments in Western Europe is clearly associated with EU integration, and is projected to continue and to incorporate Eastern European migrants in the future. However, the same survey demonstrates that assignments abroad are increasingly short-term in nature, and it is noted that it is becoming more difficult to attract employees who will accept longer-term assignments abroad. As a result, companies are now relying more on business trips and virtual assignments. The most common reasons cited for failure of foreign assignments are (in order of importance): adaptability problems with partners; children's educational needs; emotional resilience; and partners' careers. In light of these problems, and the expense of foreign assignments, companies are now trying to find other ways of increasing mobility, mainly in the form of business trips and short-term assignments (PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2000). Recent attention has focused on the lack of research into the experiences of 'tied' migrants in this context, and there is a growing body of evidence to suggest that they suffer a significant degree of stress related to migration, which may impact health.

Clandestine migration

At the other end of the economic spectrum, are forced and illegal migrants. For obvious reasons, the full extent of illegal migration in Western Europe is unknown, but it is clearly a significant factor, and the International Labour Office estimated that in 1991, there were around 2.6 million undocumented nonnationals in Europe (Salt, 1998). Southern Europe experiences relatively high levels of clandestine migration, partially due to ease of entry and proximity of sender countries (King, 1993), but also to the well developed informal labour markets which provide employment niches for illegal workers. Governments have been reluctant to act against this phenomenon as it is tacitly understood that informal labour markets play an important role in their economies (White, 1993). Clandestine migration is less common in Northern Europe, where informal economies are less developed, labour forces more unionised, and comprehensive registration systems prevent black market employment occurring on any significant scale. There is increasing evidence to suggest that illegal migration is organised by underground agencies, who provide employment links with specific employers prior to migration. There are some serious health concerns for illegal migrants, who often do not have access to health care provision, and do not undergo screening processes (such as for tuberculosis) which legal migrants may be entitled to. They are also outwith the legal protection mechanisms for employees in dangerous occupations, and may suffer serious health consequences as a result. There is also growing awareness of the situations of significant numbers of trafficked migrants who are forced into prostitution or bonded labour to pay off their debts, often working in very poor conditions, with associated health risks. Known routes for the illegal trafficking of migrants include networks linking Mali, Senegal, and other Sub-Saharan countries with Spain, via Morocco (IOM, 2000), and the development of new channels through the Former Yugoslavia, which is now described as the 'back door' into Europe. It is well documented that traffickers are using Sarajevo as a staging post in the transportation of illegal immigrants from all over the world to the EU.

Refugees

Refugees are currently the most substantial source of new migrants to Western Europe, a manifestation of increasing political unrest and disintegration globally, particularly since the mid 1980s. Widgren (1989) identified the 1980s as the beginning of a new period in global refugee migration, marked increasingly by intercontinental movements, the causes of which he partly attributes to the decolonization process in Asia and Africa. Desbarats (1992) notes that prior to this period, Europe's reception of refugees was primarily related to European conflicts and involved modest UNHCR quotas. Robinson (1996) also observes this change in pattern, characterised by a shift from organised and controlled reception of quota refugees to a situation where spontaneous refugees now dominate flows, a pattern enhanced by ease of transport and pre-existing migrant networks. Overall, these changes have led to increasing diversity in refugee migration to Western Europe.

The characteristics of refugees vary considerably, and despite the tendency for host populations to lump together economic migrants and refugees as one undifferentiated 'other', it should be noted that refugee migration to advanced industrial countries is often a selective process which favours skilled and resourced migrants. This has led to a situation where in some countries, such as Sweden and the UK, contrary to popular images, the refugee population is actually more skilled that the native population (pers. com. Ekblad; pers.com. Scottish Refugee Council). The negative reactions to refugees in some receiving countries have been superimposed on pre-existing racisms, leading to problems of labour market discrimination, which intensify the difficulties experienced by many refugees when attempting to re-establish their careers after migration. Refugee deskilling has been noted in a number of countries as a very significant problem, particularly Sweden (pers com Ekblad) and Denmark (Wren, 1999). Clearly, this will add to psychological health problems experienced during the readjustment process after the trauma of persecution and forced flight, but there are also health implications for refugees forced into physically demanding manual work to which they may be unaccustomed.

Very recent migration trends

The above migration pattern has been fairly universal throughout Western Europe, and most countries could be fitted fairly easily into this framework. The model does not, however, account for very recent changes in patterns of migration in Europe, where skills shortages in certain sectors have developed in a number of countries during the latter part of the 1990s (Harding, 2000; Salt, 1998). These shortages, coupled with removal of immigration barriers for EU migrants, have led to increased general mobility within the EU at all skills levels and among both males and females. The mobility patterns are very variable, but movements are largely temporary in nature, and the International Organisation for Migration (2000) reports that the majority of migrants involved are highly skilled. The extent of this mobility is significant, but is rather less than would be expected, as recent figures show a total of only 5.5 m EU nationals (just 1.6% of total EU population) working in another EU country (Sassen, 2000), and between 1985 and 1995 the numbers have not increased significantly (Eurostat, 1997). The health impacts of these movements constitute an important research gap, however, it is unlikely that this voluntary movement will involve any significant deskilling, as people are likely to migrate in order to enhance their careers.

Similarly, it was predicted that the removal of the Iron Curtain would precipitate mass migration from Eastern to Western Europe. However, these predictions have not manifest (IOM, 2000), partly due to a clear tendency to stay in home countries, but also to more strict immigration controls in the west (Salt, 1998). This is in keeping with a general decline in immigration levels in most Western European countries since 1994. However, some new patterns have emerged during the 1990s, which can be broadly outlined as temporary labour migration flows westwards from: Albania to Italy and Greece; Estonia and Russia to Finland; The Czech Republic, Bulgaria, Poland and Hungary to Austria and Germany. Also notable has been the ethnic migrations from Poland, Romania and the Former Soviet Union to Germany (Salt, 1998).

Germany has been in a unique position during the 1990s, operating a system of bilateral agreements with Eastern European countries, which admits Eastern Europeans on temporary work permits. The majority of the workers involved have been from Poland. This system can broadly be divided into four categories: (1) 'Project-tied' work where German firms may subcontract work to foreign firms, which then supply the workers to work within Germany. (2) Seasonal work for up to 3 months (discussed below). (3) Border commuters – Polish and Czech citizens living within 50km of the German border may work in Germany if German workers cannot be found. (4) Guest workers - Germany has now returned to its earlier 'guest worker' system, but on a more modest scale. Bilateral quota agreements are made with sender countries in Central, Eastern and Southern Europe, with more than 40,000 contract workers registered in Germany during the late 1990s (mostly from Poland). They are restricted to working in certain sectors including agriculture, forestry and hotels (Werner, 1996; Hönekopp, 1997).

This policy is aimed at alleviating German labour shortages, and reducing levels of illegal immigration, but specifically in a way which avoids permanent settlement (Hönekopp, 1997). These programmes are aimed primarily at the unskilled employment sector, with generally with poor working conditions, which may have health repercussions. As this is a relatively recent phenomenon, little research has been carried out, and as such, this constitutes a relatively important new research gap.

Labour tourism

'Labour tourism' is an increasingly common form of temporary migration in Western Europe, primarily involving migrants from Central and Eastern Europe, the CIS and North Africa. These movements do not fit the normal definitional criteria of 'migration' due to their short term nature (international migrants are normally defined as those who change their country of residence for one year or more), but is nevertheless significant. This is discussed above in the German context, where specific programmes have been established, but it also occurs in a less formalised way in most other EU countries. Many groups from the regions involved choose to work on 3-6 month contracts (depending on the country) in Western Europe, particularly during the summer months, and primarily in occupational sectors such as agriculture, catering, construction and manufacturing, where wages and working conditions are relatively poor (pers. com. agricultural worker). They may not bring in family members, and are often restricted to working with one designated employer. In addition to Germany, Switzerland also has bilateral agreements with Italy, Spain and Portugal, and France has agreements with Morocco, Poland, Senegal and Tunisia (IOM, 2000). These agreements often reflect prior migration linkages. Although this is primarily short-term migration, there are concerns about the exploitative nature of this type of employment and there may also be health issues involved which should be researched. These may include issues such as, exposure to toxic agricultural substances, or the impacts of hard physical labour. Again, this temporary migration phenomenon and its work-related health repercussions constitute an emerging research gap.

European Racisms

Within Europe, there have been place-specific variations in the above migration processes, and significant differences in time-scales, factors which, combined with differential political processes, have created major variations in the ways in which migrants have been received, their access to political participation and citizenship, and also the ways in which they have been 'racialized'.

Despite the fact that there have been anti-racism measures implemented in most European countries, racism has been an integral part of Europe's historical development. It is a fundamental part of the reality of most migrants' lives, and is likely to significantly hinder their life chances after migration in a number of

ways. While European integration is creating a Europe without internal borders, there has been growing tension around the concepts of 'race', ethnicity and the nation state, to the extent that some nation states are relying on powerful ideologies of nationalism to revive the declining function of the nation state. Recent political trends across Europe should be causing alarm, as the far-right has recently made political gains in a number of countries. The Freedom Party in Austria now holds considerable power after the last election, and paradoxically, soon after the EU imposed sanctions against Austria, one of Europe's fiercest critics of Austria's Freedom Party, the Belgian Prime minister, suddenly had greater cause for concern about events at home. Belgium's anti-immigration party, Vlaams Blok, recently won the largest share of the vote (33%) in local elections in Antwerp (Osborn, 2000b). This trend was mirrored in Norway where, seemingly, the far right Progress Party has become the most popular political force in the country (it polled 35% in a pre-election opinion poll), and its leader may easily become the next prime minister of Norway (Osborn, 2000c). The rise of Neo-Nazism in Germany is also causing concern among Germany's politicians (Staunton, 2000), while the traditionally liberal and tolerant Scandinavian countries, Sweden (Pred, 1997, 1998) and Denmark (Hjarnø, 1991; Schierup, 1993; Wren, 2001) are also demonstrating a disturbing degree of racism. In Britain, there is strong evidence of institutionalised racism within the Crown Prosecution Service (Dyer, 2000) and in the police force (Campbell et al, 1999).

Bovenkerk et al (1990) argue that there are common themes and issues related to racism and labour market discrimination, but these do not sufficiently explain the complexities and variations in the nature of reactions in different countries. Hall (1978) argues that 'racial' distinctions are social constructions, created under the specific conditions of the societies in which they appear. Essentially, 'racial' distinctions are related to the form of social relations at historically specific times, and to the ways in which these relations maintain fundamental inequalities in power. Racism is therefore not a static phenomenon, but one which is renewed and transformed, over time and constituted differently in different places, and for this reason we should not seek universal definitions of racism, but examine place-specific manifestations and their impacts. Migration histories are therefore important factors in the way different racist discourses have evolved within individual nation states in Europe. Place-specific racist discourses have important impacts on immigration and integration policies, both of which are important factors shaping the life-chances and health profiles of potential migrants. These differing contexts and political processes are closely linked with differences in the ways in which nations are imagined as communities (Anderson, 1991), which can either incorporate or exclude migrants. The EU is a recent imposition on

these historically constructed institutional factors, hence the difficulty in finding common ground among European racisms.

The way racism manifests and is resisted, and the way migration is politicised in different nation states has direct ramifications for the way migrants/ethnic minorities are defined, and consequently, for the way data are recorded. Discourses, and the concepts and definitions which they inform, are placespecific to nation states, and not easily transferred across national boundaries. To understand the complexities of definitions and to contextualise their meaning, there needs to be awareness of their specific contexts. Citizenship, and access to it often rests on distinctive understandings of, and historical paths to, nationhood (Brubaker,1990). These contexts are also important for understanding the nature and impacts of migration, so a brief outline will be given of the migration histories and policy developments in a range of countries.

Britain

Several European countries such as the UK, France and the Netherlands share a common history of colonialism, where the migration of various groups has been closely linked to the process of decolonisation and to specific political ties to the 'mother country'. This process has historically been associated with automatic citizenship rights for early migrants, into nation states which were able to incorporate 'others' with relative ease, while maintaining their political identities as nation states. In this way, the West Indian migrations have been incorporated into contemporary meanings of what constitutes Britishness ('Black British'), particularly as 'British' has always been a composite identity, and is therefore easy to extend to other groups (Bryant, 1997). Surinamese migrants and their offspring have enjoyed similar acceptance as Dutch citizens. These case-specific circumstances are particularly relevant for the UK, where discourses centring around colonialism and 'race' stem from a period of biological racism prevalent during the colonial period. The ideological notion of 'race' has thus become firmly embedded in British political culture (Miles, 1994), despite the fact that theories of biological racism are now recognised as social constructions with no biological or scientific basis (Smith, 1989; Brah, 1993). This term is not used in other European countries, particularly after the atrocities committed during World War 2, but Gilroy (1987) argues that the role of 'race' as a categorisation has an explicitly political role in Britain, as the concept has evolved as a locus for black resistance, as a positive signifier of black identity and of the experience of shared oppression and migration. Smith argues that 'race' can therefore be considered a valid category of analysis, not in an explanatory sense, but due to its role as 'a powerful social myth, with far-reaching human consequences' (Smith, 1989:11).

The association between discourses of 'race' and 'blackness' is clearly evident in Britain. Britain's particular colonial ties have resulted in the term 'black' as a descriptor of particular migrant groups and their offspring, which has now been incorporated into the official census (1991), though this does not allow individuals within ethnic groups to be distinguished as first, second or third generation migrants, or by nationality, but rather, by a common historical origin in another region. However, the use of the term 'black' cannot be universalised throughout Europe, where migrants have different histories and ethnic origins. These terms would, be obsolete in other countries where migrations have originated from regions such as Southern Europe and the Arab world, and where a colonial history is absent. Discourses centring around 'race' and 'blackness' would have little meaning or significance in countries such as Germany, where no significant colonial ties have been involved in the migration process, and where the concept of 'race' is considered an outdated expression of biological racism, bearing uncomfortable associations with fascism and the Nazi regime during the 1930s (Miles, 1994). Similarly, the Nordic countries would be puzzled by this discourse, for the same reasons.

France

France, which also has a history of colonial migration, has been less concerned with any discourse of 'race' and more with culture and religion. The French state has been conceived as an essentially political, and not a specifically cultural entity (Brubaker, 1990), where political unity, and not shared culture constitutes nationhood, which can incorporate 'others' with relative ease. Birth and residence therefore confer rights of citizenship, which is defined expansively, though in an assimilatory capacity (Bovenkerk et al, 1990). Terminology describing new migrants has focused on exclusionary terms such as *immigrés* and *étrangers* and conflict has resulted over the perceived 'unassimilability' of new migrants (Bovenkerk et al, 1990).

The Netherlands

In the Netherlands, the term 'immigrant' has been considered inappropriate and has not been used by the authorities. Discourses were phrased in terms of 'ethnic minorities' at an early stage, partly due to the relatively long history of colonial migration (Bovenkerk et al, 1990; Miles, 1994), but also to the fact that the concept of minority groups has been relatively easy to incorporate into Dutch society due to pre-existing 'pillarization'. Various sections of Dutch society (based on religion) have already established the right to organise and developed their own separate institutions, and Dutch society has already evolved within a 'living-apart-together' framework, where differences have become inherent to the national identity (Doomernik, 1995:54). As in France, citizenship rights are based on principle of *jus soli*, and Dutch citizenship is conferred on all who have a Dutch parent, regardless of where they are born, and can be obtained relatively easily after five years residence (Bryant, 1997). Concerns in the Netherlands have focused on the 'social undesirability' of migrants (Bovenkerk et al, 1990), and the perceived threat of Islamic fundamentalism (Van Amersfoort, 1993).

Germany

Other European nation states have no colonial histories and therefore no associated post-colonial migrations. Post World War 2 labour migrants were therefore related to other types of linkages. In Germany, these linkages were based on bilateral government agreements, where labour was exported from countries such as Turkey, to fill labour shortages in Germany. The ways in which the German nation has historically been conceived have been very influential in the development of immigration policies. Brubaker (1990) argues that Germany is regarded as a community of descent independent of the state, and that the nation was conceptualised as an organic entity before Germany was unified as a spatial entity. The idea of a German nation is therefore not a political one, but is imagined as a Volk-centred ethnocultural unity. Access to German citizenship is therefore based upon biological descent (jus sanguinis), which allows ethnic Germans in Eastern Europe (aussiedler) automatic citizenship rights, even though they may have no knowledge of the German language and culture, while second and third generation Turkish migrants born and educated in Germany have great difficulty obtaining German citizenship. Germany therefore constitutes a community of descent, not confined by territorial boundaries (Bryant, 1997), a factor reinforced by the myth that Germany is not a country of immigration. The connection 'foreign workers' have with Germany is therefore highly ambivalent, with liberal admission policies, and a relatively relaxed asylum policy, but denial of citizenship rights (King, 1995). German integration policies have effectively meant that gastarbeiter (a term signifying a temporary stay) and refugees have had to integrate as 'foreigners' with diminished status in society. As a result, in ordinary German usage, the exclusionary term ausländer (foreigner) is the much-used official definition of long-term residents (including second and third generation migrants) in Germany who are not of German ethnic descent (Rittstieg, 1994). These factors are reflected in official health data categories, which crudely divide the country's inhabitants into two categories, 'Germans' and 'migrants'. There is minimal breakdown by nationality status, or differentiation by migrant origin.

Sweden and Denmark

Sweden, Denmark and Norway have no colonial migration ties, though they have indirectly absorbed racist theories from the colonial period in Europe (Salimi, 1991). Post-war labour migration to these countries was primarily from Europe's southern and eastern peripheries, rendering the British discourse of 'race' and 'blackness' redundant. However, even among the Nordic countries, political factors have been quite different. The way migrant workers were viewed in Denmark is a close reflection of the German situation, where a perceived culturally homogenous national identity has provided fertile territory for the development of cultural racism. This has led to the use of terms such as *gæstearbeiter* (borrowed directly from German and implying a temporary stay) and *fremmede* (strangers), as descriptors of externalised 'others'. Labour migration was considered a temporary phenomenon, and migrants were never expected to become part of the fabric of the Danish nation. However, in direct contrast to the German situation, Danish citizenship is granted fairly easily after seven years residence.

Swedish policy has been very different, and despite the absence of colonial linkages, early labour migrants were encouraged to settle permanently and become part of Swedish society, a policy prompted by a very active trade union movement. This process was facilitated by easy access to Swedish citizenship, and comprehensive integration policies. Sweden adopted various multicultural policies at a relatively early stage, and the state has been very active in promoting integration and health facilities for migrants.

Both Denmark and Sweden have primarily received migrants (both labour migrants and refugees) from Muslim-majority countries. Immigration has therefore been perceived specifically in religious and cultural terms, and racist discourses have been specifically 'anti-Muslim' (Pred, 1998; Wren, 2001). The relative lateness of labour migration, particularly in Denmark, has resulted in its unfortunate coincidence with economic recession during the 1970s and 1980s. It has been all too easy to associate deteriorating economic conditions with the presence of labour migrants and refugees, whose arrival during the 1980s was facilitated by relatively liberal entry policies. Active refugee dispersal policies during the 1980s in both countries, along with media provocation, brought the refugee issue to the top of the political agenda, resulting in considerable antirefugee hostility at that time. Refugees were constructed as a 'burden' to society at a time when unemployment levels were very high, and these negative stereotypes have had the unfortunate consequence of fostering fairly severe labour market discrimination, rendering many highly skilled refugees as permanent welfare clients (Schierup, 1993; Wren, 1999).

Integration

Considerable literature exists on integration of immigrants in Europe, but this concept is rather vague, and open to interpretation depending on the country in which it is used (Salt et al., 1996). In the UK the term has evolved from concepts of community, in France and Denmark, from assimilation, and in the Netherlands and Sweden, multiculturalism. It is notable that integration research often focuses on issues of public concern, and these may be issues which are conceptualised from an anti-immigation stance (Salt et al., 1996). During the 1970s and early 1980s, integration research tended to focus on issues such as labour market participation, employment rights, and housing. The focus within the social sciences has now moved towards a more political view of integration, tackling issues such as citizenship rights, political participation and racism. A recent meeting by the *Refugee Employment Working Group* established that among refugees, the key to integration was considered to be employment, which provides economic independence, self esteem, and the ability for refugees to make a contribution to their host societies (Refugee Employment Working Group, 1999), an observation supported by earlier findings (ECRE Task Force, 1999). Given the structural changes in Western European economies related to the increase in informal and marginal employment, Salt et al. (1996) argue that labour market integration is likely to become more problematic in the future. Due to differences in the way integration is conceptualised in different European nation states, and to differing political agendas, there is a distinct lack of truly cross-national work on the topic.

Migration and employment

Most migrant groups in Western Europe experience social and economic marginalisation, and immigrants and their descendants tend to be over-represented in lower paid and less skilled employment sectors, and in unemployment statistics. It is non-European migrants who suffer the highest levels of unemployment. Ethnic minorities face a difficult labour market situation due to the changing nature of employment in the EU. Industrial employment has declined, the service sector has grown, and the casualisation of labour means that different types of skills are required (Expert Meeting on Refugee Employment, 1999). The relationship between political migration and downward social mobility has been well documented (Al-Rasheed, 1992; pers.com., Ekblad; pers.com. Scottish Refugee Council; Wren, 1999). The findings of the *Refugee Employment Survey* 1998, showed that 70% of respondents believed refugees

suffered downward social mobility. Often, political migration is perceived as temporary, reducing the impetus to invest in long-term career and economic possibilities, but many refugees who do invest effort in re-establishing their careers are thwarted by non-recognition of their qualifications, and face extreme difficulty. Deskilling has become almost inherent to being a skilled political migrant in Western Europe.

In Italy, a recent study demonstrated the extent to which skilled refugees are forced, along with other immigrants, into low paid, and potentially physically demanding illegal employment (European Network on Integration of Refugees, 1998), a situation mirrored in other Southern European countries, where refugees are not entitled to welfare benefits (ECRE Task Force, 1999). However, there is significant evidence that the situation in Denmark and Sweden is particularly severe, an argument supported by the fact that these countries have the highest levels of ethnic minority unemployment in Europe (Hjarnø, 1991; Schierup, 1992; Pred, 1998; Ekberg and Ohlson, 2000). The language barrier is particularly problematic in these countries, as it takes many years to become fluent in a completely new language. Often, during this period of learning new language skills, new developments within particular professions can result in a further deskilling process. However, studies among first and second generation migrants which control for factors such as language proficiency and place of residence suggest that labour market discrimination is a major contributory factor (Just Jeppesen, 1989; Ekberg, 1997; Knocke, 2000). Similarly, refugees themselves regarded discrimination to be a major barrier to employment at a recent meeting of the Refugee Employment Working Group (Refugee Employment Working Group, 1999; Expert Meeting on Refugee Employment, 1999).

Contrary to popular conceptions, political migrants are often highly skilled (Al-Rasheed, 1992; Busby et al, 1998; Knocke, 2000). Al-Rasheed (1992) argues that many Iraqi political migrants are lawyers, journalists, artists and writers, the type of occupations where it is possible to express political opinions. It is this expression which has subsequently led to their flight. The skills acquired in these professions are often ill-adapted to a life in exile, as they are not easily transferable. However, Berlin et al, (1997) note the disproportionate number of doctors among refugees, and the wasted human potential involved in their deskilling and welfare dependency. Refugees have in the past made important contributions to medicine and science in Britain (CRE, 1996), and clearly, it makes moral and economic sense to use their skills more effectively. Refugee doctors, and other professionals have suffered from the negative and destructive stereotyping in the media in many countries, but could potentially be viewed as a valuable resource. It costs about £200,000 to train a doctor in Britain (Medical Workforce Standing Advisory Committee, 1997), while refugee doctors can retrain for much less. This is particularly important at a time where many

countries are experiencing a skills shortage, and future indications suggest a continuing shortage of doctors during the next decade.

The implications of deskilling among refugees include low levels of labour market participation and welfare dependency, which can create long-term social exclusion and poverty, factors generally associated with poor mental and physical health. This is in addition to prior experiences of trauma and loss, which affect many refugees. It has been argued by representatives at refugee councils in Britain, that a useful approach to tackling refugee welfare would be the integration of employment retraining and health care provision within the same programmes. They observed that often, poor mental health constituted a significant barrier to effective retraining and employment, despite targeted measures within the retraining area.

Ethnicity and health research

Much health research has focused on health differences among different immigrant or ethnic groups. The category of 'ethnicity' is increasingly being used in health research, particularly in Britain, but mainly as a descriptive variable. Comparative research on the prevalence of particular diseases among specific ethnic groups in Britain has tended to emphasise the health differences in a discriminatory way, demonstrated by the focus on negative health characteristics of ethnic minorities (Littlewood and Lipsedge, 1989; Sheldon and Parker, 1992). This is a trend which goes hand in hand with discourses which problematise ethnic minorities in most European countries (Grillo, 1985; Salimi 1991; Jackson and Penrose, 1993; Wren, 1999). Littlewood and Lipsedge (1989) further argue that there are few studies of positive characteristics of minority ethnic groups, such as low rates of suicide and alcoholism among West Indians in Britain. Mental Health research has been particularly problematic, where higher rates of mental illness are frequently reported among minority ethnic groups (Littlewood and Lipsedge, 1981, 1989). A range of studies examining the relationships between mental illness and ethnic origin have produced highly contradictory findings, suggesting that there may be some conceptual flaws in the way such studies are carried out.

Before examining these studies it would be useful to consider an emerging debate around the use of ethnicity as a category in epidemiological research. Bhopal and Senior (1994) identify some very specific fundamental problems with the use of ethnicity as an epidemiological variable, not least that there are no agreed criteria by which ethnicity is measured as there are with other variables such as social class. They argue that ethnic boundaries are fluid and in a constant state of reworking, a situation demonstrated by proposed changes in the 2001 British census classifications. This effectively renders the use of this category less than scientific. Moreover, they are concerned about lack of clarity of the purpose of using the ethnicity category. This is important when first second and third generation migrants are all recorded as members of the same ethnic group. They also express concerns over perceived ethnocentricity in formulation of research topics and the use and interpretation of data, primarily the use of the 'white' population as a standard by which to measure others. This results in emphasis on diseases more prevalent among minority ethnic groups, while ignoring diseases prevalent among all ethnic groups which also kill many among the ethnic minorities. Sheldon and Parker (1992) also express concern over the relatively poor consistency in terminology, and believe that explanation for variations in health outcomes may lie in the values of researcher rather than any genetic or environmental factors. They therefore recommend great thought and care in the use of such categories, as an unquestioning approach to their use can reinforce pre-existing discriminatory stereotypes. This is particularly important where cross-national research is to be undertaken using categories which vary from country to country.

Socio-economic links to health

There has been much discussion about links between low socio-economic status and disease, but it is generally agreed that a strong causal link exists (Townsend et al., 1988; Macintyre, 1986). These findings are corroborated by: findings in a Glasgow study of South Asians (Ecob and Williams, 1991); a Bristol black and ethnic minority health survey (Fenton et al., 1995); and a Swedish study of the relationship between socio-economic status and suicide (FerradaNoli and Asberg, 1997). As minority ethnic groups are over-represented in semi and unskilled occupational groups Fenton et al (1995) argue that it is to be expected that their health would be poorer. Health differences between ethnic groups are therefore likely to be very closely related to relative social disadvantage rather than factors inherent to ethnicity. This trend is not directly related to any specific occupational hazards, but to general poverty and disadvantage. However, it should also be noted that in general, the relative social disadvantage suffered by the ethnic minorities renders them more likely to work in hazardous occupations, which increases susceptibility to specific occupational hazards involving pollutants or accidents (Lee and Wrench, 1980). For these reasons, the use of ethnicity as an epidemiological variable independent from its social context may appear to reveal causal factors which are not relevant. It is therefore argued that health researchers should try to understand these limitations and formulate their research within its socio-economic context, rather than using ethnicity as a freestanding variable (Sheldon and Parker, 1992; Bhopal and Senior, 1994; Fenton et al., 1995; Navarro, 1989).

Migration and health

Studies examining the health of non-western immigrants in Europe have showed varied results. Comprehensive surveys examining the living conditions (including health) of immigrants were carried out in Denmark, Sweden and Norway in 1996, but produced contradictory results. Contrary to expected findings, the Norwegian survey found that the prevalence of chronic disease was higher among Norwegians than among immigrants (Blom, 1999), however, it was found that when immigrants first became ill, they were affected more severely than Norwegians, and that the illness had greater impact on their levels of activity (Blom and Ramm, 1998). Age was also much more important, as immigrants were found to be more prone to illness as they grew older, specifically those above the age of 45 (Blom and Ramm, 1998; Blom, 1998). This may have longer term policy implications, as the present cohort of immigrants ages. However, age on arrival appeared to be the most significant factor, the older migrants were on arrival, the greater the risk of long-term illness (Blom and Ramm, 1998). This study confirms an earlier health study based in Oslo, where it was demonstrated that selected refugee and immigrant groups do not have poorer health than Norwegians (Hagen et al., 1994). Though the study does identify specific groups (Turks, Iranians and Chileans) as having poorer reported health problems than the native population, the Sri Lankans and Somalis in the survey had much better health (Blom, 1998). Within this picture, there are variations, such as higher levels of mental health problems among immigrants, and significant differences in health between male and female immigrants, differences which do not exist in the Norwegian population (Blom and Ramm, 1998; Blom, 1998). If, as this survey suggests, age is a significant factor, then Norway, along with other European countries, will face a major public health issue later this century when the numbers of elderly among ethnic minority groups will increase (Rait, Burns and Chew, 1996). The aged have specific health needs, and when coupled with racism and socio-economic disadvantage, this will pose a 'triple challenge' to health care providers (Norman, 1985).

These results are somewhat contradictory with Swedish studies, which show that non-western immigrants have poorer health than the Swedish population (Leiniö, 1995; Socialstyrelsen, 1998). The 1996 study (comparing the health of ten immigrant groups) found the largest number of health problems among Finns and Yugoslavs (former labour migrants) and then Chileans and Iranians, who also had greater health problems than Swedes (Socialstyrelsen, 1995). Contrary to the Norwegian study, age- related health is not significantly different between immigrants and Swedes (Ekblad et al., 1999). As in Norway, the study showed that immigrants suffer more from mental health problems than Swedes (Socialstyrelsen, 1998). In addition, Swedish register data shows that immigrants have more sick leave than Swedes (Kindlund, 1996).

Similar research in Denmark showed that immigrants' health was not significantly different from that of Danes (Viby Mogensen, 2000). However, within this broad picture, again, there are significant differences in the health profiles of the immigrant and the Danish populations. Immigrants suffer higher rates of infectious diseases, while Danes suffer higher levels of psychiatric illnesses and cancer. Immigrants have higher rates of hospitalisation for medical complaints in general, suggesting that use of the criterion of self-perceived health in the survey may have resulted in an underestimation of the significance of health problems among the immigrant population (Ingerslev, 2000).

Unfortunately, these studies have not been directly linked to socio-economic status, so it is not possible to determine the role that poverty and disadvantage may have played in generating differential health outcomes. However, it is interesting to note that in two Scandinavian countries (Denmark and Norway), where comprehensive welfare provision has reduced social inequalities over half a century, the health profiles of one the most disadvantaged groups in their societies does not differ significantly from the rest of society. This may in fact support the hypothesis that there is a strong relationship between socio-economic factors and health, and it is the absence of severe poverty which has lead to the absence of significant differences in health outcomes. As this is not the case in Sweden, a more likely alternative hypothesis could be that self-reported illness rates and use of health services are lower among immigrants, masking a significantly poorer health profile.

Migration and mental health

As stated, much of the literature on minority health problems (particularly in Britain) has concentrated on specific health problems which affect minority groups, such as tuberculosis, nutritional deficiency diseases, sickle cell or psychiatric problems, and rarely on the more common causes of mortality among minority ethnic groups (Sheldon and Parker, 1992; Smaje, 1995; Fenton et al, 1995). However, perhaps the most contentious and hotly debated issue has been in the field of psychiatry in Britain. The role of scientific racism in psychiatry in the past, not only in Britain, but throughout Europe, has been well established, and Fernando (1988) argues that this influence persists to the present day.

Various studies show higher levels of mental illness among migrant communities than among native-born, or among the same communities in their countries of origin, and most studies also indicate higher levels of stress among first-generation migrants. However, surveys intended to clarify the mental health profiles of minority ethnic groups have shown highly contradictory findings. Littlewood and Lipsedge (1981) found rates of schizophrenia among Afro-Caribbeans resident in Britain three times higher than among the British-born population, while an extended study of schizophrenia among this group showed very high levels among both first and second generation migrants (Harrison et al, 1988). Thomas et al (1993) found that second-generation Afro-Caribbeans were nine times more likely than the white population to be diagnosed as schizophrenic. Ineichen (1989) also reports high rates of schizophrenia among South Asians in Britain. Cochrane and Bal (1989) also found a higher incidence psychosis among blacks with origins in the Caribbean, but, significantly, Cochrane (1977) found *lower* rates of psychiatric admissions for Indians and Pakistanis than for whites when age and gender adjustments were made. King et al, (1994) found higher levels of mental health problems among all ethnic minority groups, and argue that the current focus on Afro-Caribbeans is misleading. However, the most substantial population-based study of mental illness among ethnic minorities in Britain to date shows, that contrary to earlier findings, the Afro-Caribbean population suffer similar rates of psychosis to whites, and that adults of South Asian (Bangladeshi) origin suffer lower rates of depression. First generation South Asian migrants have relatively good mental health, while that of the second generation is poorer, the inverse being the case for Afro-Caribbeans. Also, surprisingly, South Asian migrants with poor knowledge of English suffered lower rates of mental illness, while those with a good knowledge of English suffered similar rates to the white population (Berthoud and Nazroo, 1997). However, this may be related to their first or second generation status, or age at migration (Berthoud and Nazroo, 1997). These striking anomalies demonstrate some of the problems of generalising by ethnic group.

Although the links between mental illness and ethnicity constitute contested terrain, there is a consistently high recorded incidence of schizophrenia among Afro-Caribbeans in Britain which runs through most of the studies. King et al (1994) discuss consistent finding in several countries where migrants in any group are found to be more susceptible to mental illness, a trend which corresponds with higher levels of mental illness among the foreign-born population in Norway (Blom and Ramm, 1998; Blom, 1998), and in Sweden (Socialstyrelsen, 1998; Sundquist et al., 2000). Swedish women have been found to suffer more than men, particularly if they have no family networks in Sweden (Socialstyrelsen, 1998). Ineichen (1989) regards it unlikely that there is one single cause, but argues that multiple interacting causes are more likely. Some have argued in favour of a genetic link, and others that people at risk of mental

illness are more likely to migrate (Berthoud and Nazroo, 1997; Carpenter and Brockington, 1980), but most arguments view the socio-economic context as most significant (Smaje, 1995). Westwood (1994) argues that rates of schizophrenia are generally higher in inner cities where ethnic minority groups tend to be concentrated, indicating a strong link between poor mental health and socio-economic disadvantage. Other relevant factors to consider are that second generation British-born Afro-Caribbeans have now reached young adulthood, when schizophrenia most commonly manifests, which may account for an apparent excess.

Recent attention has turned to racism as an explanatory factor (Littlewood and Lipsedge, 1988), as it has been established that Afro-Caribbeans in general, face a much higher risk of involuntary hospitalisation than the white population (Littlewood and Lipsedge, 1989; Ineichen, 1986; Davies et al., 1996). It is also known that Afro-Caribbeans have a greater chance than whites of being diagnosed as schizophrenic, despite presenting the same symptoms as white patients (Sheldon and Parker, 1992; King et al, 1994). There has recently been a significant shift in discourse initiated by black and Asian psychiatrists (Westwood, 1994), towards recognition of these factors. Sheldon and Parker (1992) argue that racism should be incorporated as a risk factor in mental illness rather than ethnicity, as it constitutes an important element in the causal process. However, Lewis et al. (1990) argue that this factor alone cannot explain the over diagnosis of schizophrenia. Clearly, however, as it is very difficult to define the precise interrelationships between race, culture, ethnicity, social class and migration, the methodologies of epidemiological studies can be highly problematic and may affect results. These factors should certainly be borne in mind when analysing results.

Racism can be relevant both in the diagnosis of mental illness but also in its role as a pathogenic stressor which may precipitate mental illness (Fernando, 1986). Mirdal (1984) and Ekblad et al. (1999) argue that the migration experience itself can act as a stressor, with negative health consequences for some groups, particularly refugees, who may have moved under traumatic conditions. Ekblad et al. (1999) describe migration as a psycho-social crisis with major psychological repercussions for many migrants and their families. Further, migration can lead to deep loneliness (Westwood, 1994), and additional stressors of racism and cultural change can contribute to negative mental health outcomes. However, these factors do not fully account for the apparently high levels of illness among second generation migrants.

The way mental health problems are treated by western psychiatrists can also be problematic. Due to the absence of relevant cross-cultural psychiatric care in many places, sufferers are provided with medication which merely masks the problems without dealing with the underlying issues. This is a particular problem for dispersed refugees in the UK, where adequate cross-cultural health care is not provided (pers. com. Scottish Refugee Council). Alternatively, treatment may be in the form of psychoanalysis, which, anthropologists argue, is imbued with core western, middle class cultural values (Kleinman, 1988), focusing on the individual, and not on the societal or community context in which people live. More traditional forms healing tend to focus more on the social context of the sufferer, demonstrating the differences between western egocentric culture and non-western socio-centric cultures (Helman, 2000). These factors demonstrate the value of viewing disease and illness in a much more holistic sense than is currently the case within western medicine, which tends to classify disease by categories or regions of the body. As somatization demonstrates, there may be strong linkages between mental and physical symptoms, indeed Chinese medicine (and other alternative health systems used in the west) regards somatic complaints as the primary illness problem, even in the presence of obvious physiological symptoms (Kleinman, 1980). For these reasons, it is essential that migrant communities have access to cross-cultural health care, if their needs are to be catered for adequately. Such services are fairly well-developed within Denmark and Sweden, but clearly inadequate in other European countries. Similarly, the categorisation of specific diseases in health surveys ignores the complexity of their often culture-bound manifestations, and for these reasons, crude health data sets may give a distorted or unrepresentative health profile of some migrant groups.

Refugees and health

Littlewood and Lipsedge (1989) offer no clear explanation for differential rates of mental illness between ethnic groups, but refugees clearly suffer higher rates of mental illness, while lower rates are observed among migrant groups such as South Asians in Britain, perhaps due to family and social networks. Similarly, in Sweden, refugees suffer from poorer general health than Swedes (Sundquist, 1995; Sundquist et al, 1998). A recent study in Italy showed that typically, refugees did not suffer significant health problems prior to flight, and that it was only *after* migration that a drastic decline in health was experienced. The most common health problems were psychological, followed by stomach problems (closely related to anxiety and stress) (European Network on Integration of Refugees, 1998). Migration can be considered as a major traumatic event, and where migration is long-distance, many assumptions about the world are no longer valid after migration (Helman, 2000). Where migration is involuntary, communication and language problems, coupled with racism and unemployment can create *cultural bereavement* (Eisenbruch, 1988), which carries similar symptoms to grief. In this sense, migration can be considered pathogenic (Bayard-Burfield et al., 2000):

"We must never forget that for the refugee, exile is like a small death which cancels out his previous life. The experience of mourning, which is in itself a demanding process, becomes difficult when one is alone and the outlook is all too shadowy and uncertain." (European Network on the Integration of Refugees, 1998)

Post traumatic stress disorder

A new and urgent health problem Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), has been highlighted by (Ekblad et al., 1999), and is particularly prevalent among refugees, many of whom suffer from PTSD after war, victimisation and torture (Apitzsch and Ramoskruggiero, 1994). Recent epidemiological studies have revealed that the psychiatric morbidity associated with mass violence in civilian and refugee populations is elevated when compared with non-traumatised communities (deGirolamo and McFarlane, 1996). According to Jablensky et al. (1994), the most common symptoms and signs that appear in refugees across different cultures include: anxiety disorders (i.e. high levels of fear, tension, irritability and panic), depressive disorders (i.e. sadness, withdrawal, apathy, guilt, and irritability), suicidal feelings and attempts, anger, aggression and violent behaviour (which often finds expression in acts of spouse and child abuse), drug and alcohol abuse. The psychiatric diagnosis most frequently identified in most cultures is post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Jaranson, Forbes-Martin and Ekblad, 2001). However, despite an increase in knowledge about the mental health problems and methods of intervention, the magnitude of the problems are not known. The international literature (Breslau et al, 1998) have identified several demographic risk factors for development of PTSD. Lifetime prevalence rates of PTSD are twice as high for women as for men (10.4% vs 5%) and women are four times more likely to develop PTSD when exposed to the same trauma. This is consistent in a Swedish study (SOU, 1998). Breslau et al (1999) found that the higher risk for PTSD in women is primarily due to a special vulnerability to assault and violence and which may be more threatening and injurious to women, most perpetrators being men and therefore performing greater strength physically. Gender differences in response to treatment have not been studied systematically (Foa, Keane and Friedman, 2000). Recent epidemiological evidence indicates that PTSD can be identified across cultures, but it occurs in only a minority of persons exposed to mass conflict, with prevalence rates varying between 4 and 20 % (Silove, 1999) Silove et al. (2000), in a review of risk factors for PTSD, showed that a history of prior

exposure to trauma or to chronic environmental stress is an extremely potent risk factor for PTSD, particular if it is experienced at a young age.

Social factors may also influence risk such as a history of family instability, while good social support is associated with lower levels of symptoms. Lower levels of education and income and being divorced or widowed are also risk factors for PTSD. Breslau et al (1998) have shown that several demographic factors influence the risk of trauma exposure, besides gender including age and socio-economic status as well as ethnicity. Prospective studies reveal that psychological distress usually declines with time in the host country (Ekblad, Belkic and Eriksson, 1996).

The condition appears to be increasing in frequency as low-intensity wars which are more likely to affect civilians, become more common. The recognition and successful treatment of PTSD is crucially important, as it can act as a significant barrier to successful retraining and employment, particularly in the early stages of refugee resettlement. Relevant therapy can be of great value to sufferers in their attempts to regain autonomy and control over their lives.

Work-related accidents

International studies have shown that ethnicity is a significant risk factor for work-related accidents, and Ekblad et al. (1999) report that in Sweden, immigrants are generally over-represented in accident statistics. It is likely that socio-economic factors are more important, given the fact that accident-related deaths are significantly more common among unskilled workers than among middle and high range service sector workers, and that immigrants are generally over-represented in unskilled occupations. Contrary to much of the literature on work-related health problems, a recent study in Norway showed no significant differences in the levels of accidents between immigrants and native Norwegians (Blom and Ramm, 1998, Blom, 1998). Some studies of work-related accidents have been criticised for their lack of attention to confounding factors such a age, skill, and experience, and the fact that ethnic minorities are often concentrated in more risky occupations. It has also been demonstrated in Britain that accident statistics can be distorted by low usage rates of occupational health services (Lee and Wrench, 1980). This type of work-related health issue is relatively easy for researchers to approach, assuming that confounding variables such as socioeconomic status are considered fully. Data sources are unambiguous and easily available from occupational health services.

Access to health care

Unequal access to health care has been suggested as one of the major determinants of immigrant health outcomes. It has been argued that in Britain, health services are not always culturally sensitive and do not provide satisfactory levels of care for some minority groups (Smaje and LeGand, 1997; Curtis and Lawson, 2000), a criticism which has been echoed in other European countries. For this, and other reasons, it has been noted that some minority groups do not utilise health care facilities to the same extent as the majority population (Löfvander, 1997; Bollini and Siem, 1995). While this may result in poorer health outcomes, there may be other methods of promoting health among minority ethnic groups. Johnson (1998) argues that migrant and refugee groups often develop their own social networks and alternative health care provision. Western medicine cannot be considered as a universal health care model when even significant numbers of Europeans consult various types of alternative practitioners on a regular basis, and migrant communities in particular, often have well established alternatives. Phaobtong (1992) discusses the important role of indigenous Buddhist healers for South East Asian refugees in the United States, and it is likely that similar functions carried out by other 'community' healers' are underestimated. For these reasons, it is not always appropriate to view health care data as accurate indicators of ill-health among minority groups. However, where such alternatives are absent, particularly among forced migrants who are not part of settled ethnic communities, or who have been dispersed away from urban centres where relevant support facilities are found, unequal access to health care can have serious health repercussions.

Residential concentration and health

Smaje (1995b) argues that despite the obvious concentration of housing disadvantage, ethnic concentration may have beneficial health effects, as it allows more community integration, which can partially offset material disadvantage. Although Ecob and Williams (1991) reported poorer health in areas of high density South Asian settlement in Glasgow, the international literature generally shows an inverse, independent relationship between ethnic residential concentration and mental illness (Smaje, 1995b). There are various reasons for this including: protection from the stressors of racism and discrimination (Smaje, 1995b); social support (Dressler, 1988); political mobilisation; and enhanced material opportunities. Community integration is associated with health and well-being generally, as demonstrated by Beckert and Lønnroth (1987) in Denmark These factors are particularly relevant for refugees,

who are often compulsorily dispersed. In some cases, support services may be provided (as in Denmark and Sweden), although often, these cannot adequately replace the function of informal ethnic networks. In other cases (such as the UK), support services for dispersed refugees are minimal, resulting in secondary migration to more central areas (Robinson and Hale, 1989; Bright and Ahmed, 2001).

Illness and Culture

Unequal utilisation of health care can also be based on cultural perceptions of illness. If medical practitioners are not culturally sensitive, then their treatments will be of limited value, and their usage rates by some ethnic groups may be low. Where patients and health professionals have very different cultural backgrounds, there can be major problems not only with the diagnosis and treatment of illness, but also the subsequent classification of disease in health records, particularly where mental illness is concerned. Cultural factors can determine the ways in which mental illness is diagnosed and treated, and social definitions of 'normality' and 'abnormality' can vary considerably by culture. Helman (2000) therefore argues that 'normal' behaviour should be a more fluid concept. Similarly, pain is not culture free, and the ways in which people respond to pain and the degree to which they report it to health professionals can be influenced by their social and cultural backgrounds. In some cultures, open displays of emotional distress are not encouraged, and emotional problems can be expressed in the somatic and physical language of distress, manifesting in physical symptoms such as vague aches and pains or breathlessness (Helman, 2000). Some cultures, such as the Chinese, define such somatic complaints as the primary illness problem, even in the presence of obvious physiological symptoms (Kleinman, 1980). It is also questionable whether the particular psychoses present in western society are universal and trans-cultural, as they may be shaped by cultural pressures and conditioning. These are issues which complicate both the classification of disease, and its treatment.

Cross cultural psychiatry

There are three major approaches to the perception of mental illness across cultures:

- A biological approach
- A social labelling approach
- A combined approach

Biological approach

This relies on diagnostic categories which are based on the western psychiatric model, and rests on the assumption that mental disorders can be universalised across cultures because they have a biological basis. Disorders such as schizophrenia are therefore fixed by biology, but secondary features such as delusions may be influenced by cultural factors. This approach has been criticised for being ethnocentric, giving primacy to western models.

Social labelling approach

This perspective sees mental illness as a myth, and does not acknowledge that there are always clear biological symptoms. It is society which defines deviant behaviour, so mental illness can only be defined relative to the society in which it is found, and therefore cannot be said to have a universal existence. Definition of mental illness is thus culture-specific and cannot be universalised across cultures. This perspective therefore regards mental illness as a social construction, which only exists by virtue of the society which defines it.

Combined approach

This perspectives includes elements of both of the above. It acknowledges certain universal manifestations of abnormal behaviour which can be found throughout the world, but asserts that these manifestations are given different labels in different cultures.

Clearly then, diagnosis of mental illness can vary significantly by culture, and this should be taken into consideration when dealing with migration and mental illness. However, even western psychiatry is not internally consistent in the way it diagnoses mental illness, and diagnoses may vary considerably between and within countries. For this reason, cross-national comparisons should be interpreted with caution. Kendell (1975) argues that diagnosis is a very subjective process, which is also open to individual doctors' social, ethnic, religious and cultural backgrounds. Political and moral factors may also be involved in defining so-called deviant behaviour. In a study of mental illness among immigrants in the UK, Littlewood and Lipsedge (1989) suggest that psychiatry, which often misinterprets the religious and other behaviour of Afro-Caribbean patients, can sometimes be used as a form of social control, resulting in the high diagnosis rate discussed earlier.
Somatization

Somatization should also be considered when researching migration and mental health. Somatization is a process where psychological disorders are patterned into a language of distress, that is, a set of physical symptoms, which are often culturally determined. This is particularly relevant with illnesses such as depression, where sufferers may complain of a variety of diffuse physical symptoms such as tiredness, headaches, vague aches and pains, or dizziness. Kleinman (1980) argues that different cultures and social classes have different symptoms of depression, which is more frequently expressed as physical pain among lower socio-economic groups, and as psychological symptoms among middle class professionals. Further, Hussein and Gomersall (1978) have demonstrated how depression among Asian immigrants in the UK often manifests in somatic form.

Cultural somatization

Somatization manifests among some specific cultural groups through the selection of specific organs, which become the focus of symptoms. The organ selected often has some sort of symbolic significance for the ethnic group, and through somatization, they embody some of the values central to their culture (Csordas, 1990). This process is dependent on various factors such as language, concepts of health and illness and culturally sanctioned illness behaviour (Mumford, 1993). Cultural somatization can be linked with wider, culture-bound psychological disorders, where some illnesses may be unique to specific groups or culture areas. Often, the symptoms may have wider social or moral significance, and even perceived links with supernatural forces. As Helman (2000:186) argues, often they constitute a method of resolving social conflicts in a specific 'culturally patterned' way. Helman quotes various examples including voodoo in the Caribbean and amok (violent attacks) affecting Malaysian males. Culturally specific disorders also exist in western societies, including anorexia nervosa, exhibitionism or agoraphobia (Littlewood and Lipsedge, 1989). All are culture-bound because they embody some core western cultural themes. More recent syndromes which have emerged include: road rage, workaholism and myalgic encephalopathy (ME). Many of these illnesses have proven physical bases, but nevertheless embody strong social metaphors and are seen as product of perverse aspects of the societies in which they appear. Culture-bound disorders must therefore be viewed within the wider social, political and gender context within which they occur.

Methodological problems

The literature has identified many issues which could potentially complicate cross-national research in work-related health problems:

Mobility

Increasing levels of mobility create problems for thorough epidemiological research. Problems exist both in terms of spatial and temporal differences, which are not easy to represent accurately within data sources. Longitudinal studies can partially overcome some of these issues, but some health problems may have evolved before migration, others may exist as a result of work after migration, perhaps even with multiple exposure. Migration itself may also contribute to illhealth. These are difficult methodological issues which must be dealt with in any study of migration-related health problems. Schærström (1999) also highlights how, in addition to the complications of high mobility levels, long disease latency periods and environmental change further complicate the picture. He has attempted to deal with this complexity in a doctoral thesis which uses time-geography as a methodological framework (Schærström, 1996).

Diagnostic anomalies

Helman (2000) highlights the problem of discrepancies in medical diagnoses between European countries, an issue demonstrated by Van Os et al. (1993), who found very significant differences in the incidence of schizophrenia in France and Britain, which they believe can be attributed to diagnostic biases. Another larger study based on observations in five European countries found major differences in the diagnostic rates for a range of diseases, though it was not clear whether this reflected a greater incidence of this disease in some countries, or differences in diagnosis (O'Brien, 1984).

Classification of disease

The use of statistical data to classify diseases into categories can often be misleading. A holistic view of health would consider the interconnected nature of the human body, and the linkages between different classifications of illness. Stress and trauma can lead to associated physical symptoms, which are often dependent on the physical and genetic make-up of the individual. Most medical practitioners would recognise the links between eg anxiety and stomach problems, or stress and musculoskeletal problems among IT workers. The disease classifications used in statistical data sources can often miss these interconnections.

Culturally dependent views of illness

As discussed earlier in this review, the way a specific cultural group perceives particular illnesses may affect not only the ways symptoms appear, but also how they are perceived by the sufferer. This has ramifications for health care utilisation rates among different ethnic groups.

Conclusion

As demonstrated in this review, migration and work-related health constitutes an important research gap, and while there is abundant literature on the links between migration and health, and between employment and health, there is very little literature which combines all three aspects. With the potential future expansion of the EU, labour migration is likely to increase significantly, and migration-related health impacts will therefore be of greater significance. While the feasibility study identified problems of data incompatibility for cross-national analysis, even within European countries, it is difficult to combine all three aspects using statistical data sources. It is therefore recommended that future research in this area should rely on more qualitative methods. This would allow data to be tailored to the specific combination of factors which are to be linked, but would also allow the incorporation of more fluid concepts of health and disease, which is extremely important when examining health profiles of individuals who may have different cultural perspectives on ill-health.

Within the review, the following research gaps have been identified as areas for future research:

- Migration of the highly skilled has received some attention, however, the situation of tied migrants in this context is rather more precarious. Often there are stresses associated with being a tied migrant, which could potentially affect mental health. This is an important research gap, particularly if companies are to function effectively within a global labour market in the future.
- The situation of illegal migrants has attracted considerable concern, particularly as many work in dangerous and unregulated workplaces and have no access to health services.
- Deskilling among refugees has been highlighted as a major concern throughout Europe, and should be a major focus of any future project.

- Short-term temporary labour migration, primarily from Central and Eastern Europe has been growing in extent throughout the 1990s. Many workers are working under exploitative conditions reminiscent of the post World War 2 'guest worker' phase. With the potential for the EU to incorporate Eastern European countries in the coming decades, the health implications seem particularly urgent to investigate.
- The extent to which work-related accidents are more common among immigrants is contested terrain. It is suggested that there is a strong link between socio-economic factors and accident levels, and this alone can explain an apparent excess among migrants.

Bibliography

- Adams, K. and Borman, E. (2000) 'Helping Refugee Doctors', *British Medical Journal* editorial 320(7239):887.
- Ader, R., Cohen, N. and Felten, D. (1995) 'Psychoneuralimmunology: interactions between the nervous system and the immune system', *Lancet* 345:99-103.
- Al-Rasheed, M. (1992) 'Political migration and downward socio-economic mobility: The Iraqi community in London', *New community* 18(4):537-549.
- Anderson, B. (1991) Imagined Communities, Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism, Verso, London.
- Apitzsch, H. and Ramoskruggiero, L. (1994) 'Evaluation of psychological trauma a clinical investigation of 45 asylum seekers to Sweden', *Nordisk Psykologi* 46(2):108-123.
- Bayard-Burfield, L., Sundquist, J. and Johansson, S. (2000) 'Self-reported longstanding psychiatric illness and intake of benzodiazepines – A comparison between foreign-born and Swedish-born people', *European Journal of Public Health* 10(1):51-57.
- Beckert, B. and Lønnroth, G. (1987) *Etniske Grupper og Bosætning*, Roskilde Universitetcenter.
- Berlin, A., Gill, P. and Eversley, J. (1997) 'Refugee doctors in Britain: a wasted resource', *British Medical Journal editorial* 315:264-265.
- Berthoud, R. and Nazroo, J. (1997) 'The mental health of ethnic minorities', *New Community* 23(3):309-324.
- Blom, S. (1998) *Levekår blant ikke-vestlige innvandrere i Norge*, Rapport 98/16, Statistics Norway.
- Blom, S. (1999) 'Living Conditions among non-western immigrants in Norway', *Europeople*, September 1999.
- Blom, S. and Ramm, J. (1998) 'Ikke flere syke, men når de først blir syke....', *Samfunnspeilet* 3/98:6-15.

- Bollini, P. and Siem, H. (1995) 'No real progress towards equity: health of migrants and ethnic minorities on the eve of the year 2000', *Social Science and Medicine* 41(6):819-28.
- Bovenkerk, F., Miles, R. and Verbundt, G. (1990) 'Racism, Migration and the State in Western Europe: A case for comparative analysis', *International Sociology* 5(4):475-490.
- Brah, A. (1993) 'Re-framing Europe: En-gendered Racisms, Ethnicities and Nationalisms in Contemporary Western Europe', *Feminist Review* 45 Autumn:9-29.
- Breslau, N., Chilcoat, H.D., Kessler, R.C., & Peterson, E.L., Lucia, V.C. (1999)
 'Vulnerability to assaultive violence: Further specification of the sex difference in post-traumatic stress disorder', *Psychological Medicine* 29:813-821.
- Breslau, N., Kessler, R.C., Chilocoat, H.D., Schultz, L.R., Davis, G.C., Andreski, P. (1998) 'Trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in the community: the 1996
 Detroit Area Survey of Trauma', *American Journal of Psychiatry* 55:626-632.
- Bright, M. and Ahmed, K. (2001) 'Asylum dispersal system near collapse', *Guardian Weekly* 4-1-2001:7.
- Brubaker, W.R. (1990) 'Immigration, Citizenship, and the Nation-State in France and Germany: A comparative historical analysis', *International Sociology* 5(4):379-407.
- Bryant, C.G.A., (1997) 'Citizenship, national identity and the accommodation of difference: reflections on the German, French, Dutch and British cases', *New Community* 23(2):157-172.
- Busby, J., Mahmoud, H. and Anucha, N. (1998) *A study of the Skills, Training and Education Needs of Refugees and Asylum Seekers in the City of Edinburgh*, Scottish Refugee Council, Edinburgh.
- Campbell, D., Hopkins, N. and McAskill, E. (1999) 'Report lays bare Met police racism', *Guardian Weekly* 28-2-2000:1.
- Canada, E. and Phaobtong, T. (1992) 'Buddhism as a Support System for Southeast Asian Refugees', *Social Work* 37(1):61-67.
- Carpenter, L. and Brockington, I. (1980) 'A study of mental illness in Asians, West Indians and Africans living in Manchester', *British Journal of Psychiatry* 137:201-5.
- Castles, S. and Kosack, G. (1973) *Immigrant Workers and Class Structure in Western Europe*, Oxford University Press, London.

- Champion, A.G. (1994), 'International Migration and Demographic Change in the Developed World', *Urban Studies* 31 (4/5):653-677.
- Cochrane, R. (1977) 'Mental illness in immigrants to England and Wales: an analysis of mental hospital admissions 1971, *Social Psychiatry* 12:25-36.
- Cochrane, R. and Bal, S. (1989) 'Mental hospital admission rates of immigrants to England: a comparison of 1971 and 1981', *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 24:2-11.
 Commission for Racial Equality (1996) *Roots to the Future*, London.
- Cox, I.L. (1977) 'Aspects of transcultural psychiatry', *British Journal of Psychiatry* 130:211-221.
- Csordas, T. (1990) 'Embodiment as a paradigm for anthropology', Ethos 18:5-47.
- Curtis, S. and Lawson, K. (2000) 'Gender, ethnicity and self-reported health: the case of African-Caribbean populations in London', *Social Science and Medicine* 50:365-385.
- Dansk Flygtningehjælp (1997) Legal and Social Conditions, www.drc.dk
- Davies, S., Thornicroft, G., Leese, M., Higgingbotham, A. and Phelan, M. (1996)
 'Ethnic differences in risk of compulsory psychiatric admission among representative cases of psychosis in London', *British Medical Journal* 312:533-537.
- deGirolamo, D. and McFarlane, A. (1996) 'The epidemiology of PTSD', in: Marsella, A., Friedman, M., Gerrity, E., Scurfield, R. (eds) *Ethnocultural Aspects of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder*, American Psychological Association, Washington, DC:33-85.
- Desbarats, J. (1985) 'Indochinese resettlement in the United States', Annals of the Association of American Geographers 75:522-528.
- Doomernik, J. (1995) 'The Institutionalization of Turkish Islam in Germany and The Netherlands: a comparison', *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 18(1):46-63.
- Dressler, W. (1988) 'Social consistency and psychological distress', *Journal of Health* and Social Behaviour 29:79-91.
- Dyer, C. (2000) 'Inquiry finds strong evidence of racism in Crown Prosecution Service', *Guardian Weekly* 18-5-2000:9.

- Ecob, R. and Williams, R. (1991) 'Sampling Asian minorities to assess health and welfare', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 45(2):93-101.
- ECRE Task Force (1999) Bridges and Fences: Refugee Perceptions of Integration in the European Union, Brussels.
- Eisenbruch, M. (1988) The mental health of refugee children and their cultural development, *International Migration Review* 22:282-300.
- Ekberg, J. (1997) 'Hur är arbetsmarknaden för den andra generationens invandrare?' *Arbetsmarnad och Arbetsliv* 3(1): 5-16.
- Ekberg, J and Ohlson, M. (2000) 'Flyktningars arbetsmarknad är inte alltid nattsvart', *Ekonomisk Debatt* 5:431-439.
- Ekblad, S., Belkic, K., Eriksson, N. (1996), Health and disease among refugees and immigrants. A quantitative review approaching meta analysis. Implications for clinical practice and perspectives for further research. Part 1: Mental health outcomes, Statens Institut för Psykosocial Miljömedicin (IPM), Sektionen för stressforskning, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm.
- Ekblad, S., Lindén, I., Kivisaari, H., Roselius, M. and Öhrling, S. (1999) *Folkhälsa och integration*, Rapport från arbetsgruppen Folkhälsa och integration till Nationella folkhälsokomittén, Underlagsrapport nr 13, Stockholm.
- Esmail, A. and Everington, S. 91993) 'Racial discrimination against doctors from ethnic minorities', *British Medical Journal* 306:691-2.
- European Network on Integration of Refugees (1998) *Pilot Study on a Group of 60 Refugees, clients of the CIR*, Rome.
- Eurostat (1997) *Demographic Statistics 1997, Population and Social Statistics,* Eurostat, Luxembourg.
- Expert Meeting on Refugee Employment (1999) *Developing a Refugee Employment Agenda*, Report from the Expert Meeting on Refugee Employment in Dublin, 11-12 October, 1999.
- Fenton, S., Hughes, A. and Hine, C. (1995) 'Self-assessed health, economic status and ethnic origin', *New Community* 21(1):55-68.
- FerradaNoli, M. and Asberg, M. (1997) 'Psychiatric health, ethnicity and socioeconomic factors among suicides in Stockholm', *Psychological Reports* 81(1):323-332.

Fernando, S. (1986) 'Depression in ethnic minorities', in Cox, J. (ed.) *Transcultural Psychiatry*, Croom Helm, London.

Fernando, S. (1988) Race, Culture and Psychiatry, Croom Helm, London.

- Findlay, A. and Garrick, L. (1990) 'Scottish emigration in the 1980s: a migration channels approach to the study of international migration', *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 15:177-192.
- Findlay, A., Li, F., Jowett, A. and Skeldon, R. (1996) 'Skilled international migration and the global city: a study of expatriates in Hong Kong', *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 21(1):49-61.
- Foa, E., Keane, T., Friedman, M. (2000) 'Guidelines for Treatment of PTSD', *Journal* of Traumatic Stress 4:539-588.
- Gilroy, P. (1987) *There Ain't no Black in the Union Jack. The cultural politics of race and nation*, Routledge, London.
- Grillo, R. (1985) *Ideologies and Institutions in Urban France: The Representation of Immigrants*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Hagen, K., Djuve, A. and Vogt, P. (1994) *Oslo: den delte byen?* FAFO-rapport 161, Forskningsstiftelsen FAFO.
- Hall, S. (1978) 'Racism and reaction' in *Five views of multi-racial Britain*, Commission for Racial Equality, London.
- Halligan, S., Yehuda, R. (2000) 'Risk factors for PTSD', *PTSD Research Quarterly* 3:1-3.
- Harding, L. (2000) 'German visa offer fails to tempt India's IT experts', *Guardian Weekly* 25-5-2000:3.
- Harrison, G., Owens, D., Holton, A., Neilson, D. and Boot, D. (1988) 'A prospective study of severe mental disorder in Afro-Caribbean patients', *Psychological Medicine* 18(3):543-657.
- Heisler, M. and Layton-Henry, Z. (1993) 'Migration and the links between Social and Societal Security', in Waever, O., Bunzan, B., Kelstrup, M., Lemaitre, P. (eds.) *Identity, Migration and the New Security Agenda in Europe*, Pinter, London.

Helman, C. (2000) Culture, Health and Illness, Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford.

- Hjarnø, J. (1991) 'Migrants and refugees on the Danish labour market', *New Community* 18(1):75-87.
- Hönekopp, E. (1997) Labour Migration to Germany from Central and Eastern Europe – Old and New Trends, Labour Market Research Topics 23, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung
- Hussain, M.F and Gomersall, J.D. (1978) Affective Disorder in Asian Immigrants, *Psychiatric Clin* 11:87-9
- Ineichen, B. (1986)'Compulsory admissions to psychiatric hospital under the 1959 Mental Health Act: The experience of ethnic minorities', *New Community* 13(1):86-93.
- Ineichen, B. (1989) 'Afro-Caribbeans and the incidence of schizophrenia: a review', *New Community* 15(3):335-341.
- Ingerslev, O. (2000) 'Indvandrere og Sundheden', *Nyt Fra Rockwool Fondens Forskningsenhed*, Rockwool Foundation, Copenhagen.

International Organisation for Migration (2000) World Migration Report.

- Jablensky, A., Marsella, A., Ekblad, S., Jansson, B., Levi, L., Bornemann, T. (1994) 'Refugee Mental Health and Well-Being: Conclusions and Recommendations', in Marsella, A., Bornemann, T., Ekblad, S., Orley, J. (eds) *Amidst Peril and Pain: The Mental Health and Wellbeing of World's Refugees*, American Psychological Association, Washington, D.C:327-339.
- Jaranson, J., Forbes Martin, S., Ekblad, S. (2000) Refugee Mental Health: Issues for the New Millennium, in: *Mental Health United States* (in press).
- Jackson, P. and Penrose, J. (1993) *Constructions of Race, Place and Nation*, UCL Press, London.
- Johansson, L., Johansson, S., Bergman, B. and Sundquist, J. (1997) 'Suicide, ethnicity and psychiatric in-patient care: A case-control study', *Archives of Suicide Research* 3(4):253-269.
- Johnson, M. (1998) *Migrant Minority Communities as Consumers and Producers of Welfare*, Migration and the Welfare State in Contemporary Europe, International Conference, European University Institute, May 1998.

- Just Jeppesen, K. (1989) *Unge Indvandrere i to Kulturer*, Social Forsknings Instituttet, Copenhagen.
- Kendell, R.E. (1975) The Role of Diagnosis in Psychiatry, Blackwell.
- Kindlund, H. (1996) Invandrarna i socialförsäkringen. Sjukskrivning, rehabilitering och förtidspensjonering under 1990-talet, Riksförsäkringsverket Redovisar 1996:11.
- King, M., Coker, E., Leavey, G., Hoare, A. and Johnson-Sabine, E. (1994) 'Incidence of psychotic illness in London: comparison of ethnic groups', *British Medical Journal* 309:1115-9.
- King, R. (1995) 'Migrations, globalization and place' in Massey, D. and Jess, P. (eds.) A Place in the World? Places, Cultures and Globalization, Oxford University Press, New York.
- King, R. and Rybaczuk, K. (1993) 'Southern Europe and the International Division of Labour: From Emigration to Immigration', in King, R. (ed.) *The New Geography of European Migrations*, Belhaven, London.
- Kiritz, S. and Moos, R. (1974) 'Physiological effects of social environments', *Psycosom. Medicine* 36:96-113.
- Kleinman, A (1980) *Patients and Healers in the Context of Culture*, University of California Press.
- Kleinman, A. (1988) Rethinking Psychiatry, Free Press.
- Knocke, W. (2000) 'Integration or Segregation? Immigrant Populations Facing the Labour Market in Sweden', *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 21: 361-380.
- Kompier, M. and Cooper, G. (1999) 'Stress prevention: European countries and European cases compared', in Kompier, M. and Cooper, G. *Preventing Stress, Improving Productivity, European Case Studies in the Workplace*, Routledge, London.
- Leiniö, T. (1995) 'Invandrarnas hälsa, in Socialstyrelsen', *Invandrares hälsa och sociala förhållanden*, SoS-rapport 1995:5, 73-118.
- Lee, G. and Wrench, J. (1980) "Accident-prone immigrants": an assumption challenged', *Sociology* 14(4):551-66.
- Lewis, G., Croft-Jeffreys, C. and David, A (1990) 'Are British Psychiatrists Racist?' *British Journal of Psychiatry* 157:401-15.

- Littlewood, R. and Lipsedge, M. (1981) 'Some social and phenomenological characteristics of psychotic immigrants', *Psychological Medicine* 11:289-302.
- Littlewood, R. and Lipsedge, M. (1988) 'Psychiatric Illness among British Afro-Caribbeans', *British Medical Journal* 296 (6627):950-951.

Littlewood, R. and Lipsedge, M (1989) Aliens and Alienists, Unwin Hyman.

Lopes, I. (1991) 'Portugal: Colonial Connections', Refugees, March: 29.

- Löfvander, M. (1997) Illness, disease, sickness. Clinical factors, concepts of pain and sick leave patterns among immigrants in primary health care. Effects of different therapeutic approaches, dissertation, Karolinska Insitutet.
- Mackintyre, S. (1986) 'The Patterning of health by social position in contemporary Britain: directions for sociological research', *Social Science and Medicine* 23:393-415.
- Medical Workforce Standing Advisory Committee (1997) *Third Report: planning the medical workforce*, Department of Health, London.
- Miles, R. (1989) Racism, Routledge, London.
- Miles, R (1994) 'Explaining Racism in Contemporary Europe', in Rattansi, A. and Westwood, S. (eds.) *Racism, Modernity and Identity on the Western Front*, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Mirdal, G. (1984) 'Stress and Distress in Migration: Problems and Resources of Turkish Women in Denmark', *International Migration Review* 18(4):984-1003.
- Mollica, R., McInnes, K., Sarajilic, N., Lavelle, J., Sarajilic, I., Massagli, MP. (1999)
 'Disability associated with psychiatric co-morbidity and health status in Bosnian refugees living in Croatia', *Journal of the American Medical Association* 282: 433-439.
- Mumford, D. (1993) 'Somatization: a transcultural perspective', *International Review of Psychiatry* 5:231-42.
- Norman, A. (1985) *A Triple Jeopardy: growing old in a second homeland*, London; Centre for Policy on Ageing.
- O'Brien, B. (1984) *Patterns of European Diagnoses and Prescribing*. Office of Health Economics. (quoted in Helman, 2000).

- Osborne, A. (2000a) 'How we're working our way to a breakdown', *Guardian Weekly* 26-10:20.
- Osborne, A. (2000b) 'Belgium fuels Europe's lurch to the extreme right', *Guardian Weekly* 12-10-2000:2.
- Osborne, A. (2000c) 'Power in prospect for Norway's far right', *Guardian Weekly* 12-10-2000:7.
- Pais, P., Pogue, J., Gerstein, H., Zachariah, E., Savitha, D., Jayprakash, S., Nayak, P., and Yusuf, S. (1996) 'Risk factors for acute myocardial infarction in Indians; a casecontrol study', *Lancet* 348(9024): 1-13.
- Paoli, P. (1997) Second European Survey on Working Conditions 1996, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Dublin.

Pieterse, J. (1991) 'Fictions of Europe', Race and Class 32(3):3-10.

- Pile, H. (1997) The Asylum Trap, London, Low Pay Unit/World University Service.
- Pred, A. (1997) 'Somebody Else, Somewhere Else: Racisms, Racialized Spaces and the Popular Geographical Imagination in Sweden', *Antipode* 29(4):383-416.
- Pred, A. (1998) 'Memory and the cultural reworking of crisis: racisms and the current moment of danger in Sweden, or wanting it like before', *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space* 16:635-664.
- Preston, P. (1999) 'Today's refugees are Europe's future assets', *Guardian Weekly* 18-8-1999:12.
- Price waterhouseCoopers (2000) European Policy and Practice, www.pwcglobal.com
- Rait, G., Burns, A. and Chew, C. (1996) 'Age, ethnicity, and mental illness: a triple whammy', *British Medical Journal* 313:1347-8.
- Ramsay, R. and Turner, S. (1993) 'Refugee health needs', *British Journal of General Practice* 43(376):480-481.
- Razum, O., Zeeb, H., Seval Akgün, S. and Yilmaz, S. (1998) 'Low overall mortality of Turkish residents in Germany persists and extends into a second generation; merely a healthy migrant effect?' *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 3(4): 297-303.

Refugee Employment Survey (1998), London

- Refugee Employment Working Group (1999) *Refugee Perceptions on Employment*, Report from the Refugee Employment Working Group in Dalfsen, The Netherlands, 1-2 July, 1999.
- Rittstieg, H. (1994) 'Dual citizenship: legal and political aspects in the German context', in Bauböck, R. (ed.) *From Aliens to Citizens: Redefining the Status of Immigrants in Europe*, Avebury, Aldershot.
- Robinson, V. and Hale, S. (1989) *The Geography of Vietnamese Secondary Migration in the UK*, Research Paper in Ethnic Relations no. 10, ESRC.
- Robinson, V. (1996) 'The Changing Nature and European Perceptions of Europe's Refugee Problem', *Geoforum* 26(4):411-427.
- Salimi, K. (1991) 'Norway's national racism', Race and Class 32(3):111-114.
- Salt, J. (1992) 'Migration processes among the highly skilled in Europe', *International Migration Review* 26(1):484-505.
- Salt, J. (1995) International Migration and Migration Control in Europe: Perspectives for the 1990s, Paper presented at the IBG annual conference, Newcastle.
- Salt, J. (1998) Current Trends in International Migration in Europe, Council of Europe.
- Salt, J. et al. (1996) *Feasibility Study for a European Migration Observatory*, Final Report, European Commission.
- Sassen, S. (1991) Global Cities, Princeton University Press, New York.
- Sassen, S. (2000) 'It is a myth that waves of immigrants threaten to swamp the West', *Guardian Weekly* 27-4-2000:13.
- Schierup, C. (1992) 'Indvandrere på det danske arbejdsmarked. Stukturændringer, diskriminering of alternativer', in Vi Ta'r Fat, Artikelsamling om Indvandrere i Danmark, Forbundet af Arbejdere fra Tyrkiet, Copenhagen.
- Schierup, C. (1993) På Kulturens Slagmark, Mindretal og Størretal taler om Danmark, Sydjysk Universitetsforlag, Esbjerg.
- Schærström, A. (1996) Pathogenic Paths? A time geographical approach in medical geography, PhD Thesis, University of Lund, Sweden.

- Schærström, A. (1999) 'Apparent and actual disease landscapes some reflections on the geographical definition of health and disease', *Geografiska Annaler* 81B(4):235-242.
- Sheldon, T. and Parker, H. (1992) 'Race and ethnicity in health research', *Journal of Public Health Medicine* 14:104-110.
- Silove, D. (2000) 'Trauma and forced relocation', *Current Opinion in Psychiatry* 13:213-236.
- Silove, D., Ekblad, S., Mollica, R. (2000) 'Health and human rights. The rights of the severely mentally ill in post-conflict societies', Invited *Lancet* commentary April 29, 1548-1549.
- Smaje, C. (1995) *Health, 'Race' and Ethnicity: Making Sense of the Evidence*, King's Fund Institute, London.
- Smaje, C. (1995b) 'Ethnic residential concentration and health evidence for a positive effect', *Policy and Politics* 23(3):251-269.
- Smaje, C. and LeGrand, J. (1997) 'Ethnicity, equity and use of health services in Britain', *Social Science and Medicine* 45:485-496.
- Smith, S. (1989) *The Politics of 'Race' and Residence: Citizenship, Segregation and White Supremacy in Britain*, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Socialstyrelsen (1995) Invandrares hälsa och sociala förhållanden, SoS-rapport 1995:5, Stockholm.
- Socialstyrelsen (1998) *Levnadsförhållanden hos fyra invandrargrupper föda i Chile, Iran, Polen och Turkiet*, Invandrarprojektet, Rapport nr. 1998:1, Invandrares levnadsvilkor 1, Stockholm.
- SOU (1998) Statens offentliga utredningar, Socialdepartementet 1998:43.
- Statistics Sweden (1997) 'Invandrarnas levnadsförhållanden' i Välfärd och ojämlikhet I 20-årsperspektiv 1975-1995, Rapport 91, Stockholm.
- Staunton, D. (2000) 'Rise of neo-Nazism alarms Germany', *Guardian Weekly* 10-8-2000:4.

Stolcke, V. (1995) 'Talking Culture', Current Anthropology 36(1):1-24.

- Sundquist, J. (1995) 'Ethnicity, migration and health a population-based study of 338 refugees from Latin America, 396 non refugee immigrants from Finland and 161 from Southern Europe and 996 age-matched, sex-matched and education-matched controls from Sweden', *Scandinavian Journal of Social Welfare* 4(1):2-7.
- Sundquist J., Behmen-Vincevic, A. and Johansson, S. (1998) 'Poor quality of life and health in young to middle aged Bosnian female war refugees: a population-based study', *Public Health* 112(1):21-26.
- Sundquist, J., Bayard-Burfield, L., Johansson, L. and Johansson, S. (2000) 'Impact of Ethnicity, Violence and Acculturation on Displaced Migrants. Psychological Distress and Psychosomatic Complaints among Refugees in Sweden', *The Journal* of Nervous and Mental Disease 188:357-365.
- Thomas, C. S., Stone, K, Osborn M (1993) 'Psychiatric Morbidity and compulsory admission among UK-born Europeans, Afro-Caribbeans and Asians in Central Manchester,' *British Journal of Psychiatry* 163:91-9.
- Townsend, P., Davidson, N., Whitehead, M. (1988) *Inequalities in Health*, Penguin, London.
- Van Amersfoort, H. (1993) 'International Migration and Population in the Netherlands', *Tijdschrift voor Economic en Sociale Geografie* 84 (1):65-74.
- Van Os, J., Galdos, P., Lewis, G. et al. (1993) Schizophrenia sans frontieres: concepts of Schizophrenia among French and British Psychiatrists, *British Medical Journal* 307:489-492.
- Viby Mogensen, G. (2000) *Nyt Fra Rockwool Fondens Forskningsenhed*, Rockwool Foundation, Copenhagen.
- Werner, H. (1996) Temporary Migration of Foreign Workers Illustrated with Special Regard to East-West Migrations, Labour Market Research Topics 18, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt-und Berufsforschung.
- Westwood, S. (1994) 'Racism, Mental Illness and the Politics of Identity' in Rattansi,A. and Westwood, S. (eds) *Racism, Modernity and Identity on the Western Front*,Polity Press, Cambridge.
- White, P. (1993) 'The Social Geography of Immigrants in European cities: The Geography of arrival', in King, R. (ed.) *The New Geography of European Migrations*, Belhaven, London.

- Widgren, J. (1989) 'Asylum Seekers in the Context of South-North Movements', *International Migration Review* 23(3):560-605.
- Wren, K. (1999) International Migration to Denmark: Majority and Minority Perspectives, PhD Thesis, University of Dundee.
- Wren, K. (2001) 'Cultural Racism: Something Rotten in the State of Denmark?' *Social and Cultural Geography* (forthcoming)